BILLY RAY NIBERT,

Appellant,

vs.

f<sup>an a</sup> c

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. 71,980



E CIRCUIT COURT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

Pole -

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

/ DOUGLAS S. CONNOR
 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Hillsborough County Grand Jury indicted Billy Ray Nibert, Appellant, on December 12, 1984 for first-degree murder in the stabbing death of Eugene Snavely. (R471-2) The case proceeded to trial; Nibert was found guilty and sentenced to death. On appeal to this Court, Nibert's conviction was affirmed but the death sentence was vacated because one aggravating circumstance was found erroneously. (R474-80) The case was remanded to the trial court for resentencing. (R840)

Back in the trial court, the original judge <u>sua sponte</u> disqualified himself and ordered the case reassigned. (R491) Two pre-trial motions, Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional (R493-99) and Motion to Preclude Imposition of a Sentence of Death (R500-04), were considered and denied. (R3-13) The resentencing proceeding was held before the Honorable Susan C. Bucklew and a jury on February 1-3, 1988. (R1-422)

During voir dire, seven prospective jurors were struck for cause on the State's contention that they had impaired ability to consider impartially a penalty of death. (R132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 162) After the prosecutor had excused a second black prospective juror by peremptory strike, defense counsel objected that blacks were being systematically excluded from the jury. (R144) The trial judge noted that both the defendant and the victim were white and termed the defense objection

"ridiculous." (R145) The prosecutor was not required to give reasons for his peremptory strikes on black prospective jurors. (R147)

Before state witness Jack Andruskiewiecz testified, defense counsel objected to mention of any collateral crime evidence. (R222-3) Specifically, the court was asked to keep out Nibert's alleged statement several days before the homicide that he was going to rob the victim. (R222-3) The prosecutor agreed that the aggravating circumstance "during the commission of a robbery" was unsupported by the evidence but contended that the announced intention to rob was relevant to prove the "especially heinous, atrocious or cruel" aggravating factor. (R224-6) The trial judge agreed with the prosecutor and refused to limit the testimony. (R233-4) Prosecutorial comment during closing arguments regarding this testimony later formed the basis for a defense motion for mistrial which the court denied. (R364-6)

The trial judge denied two special jury instructions requested by Appellant. (R339, 346, 514-5) The jury was instructed on one aggravating circumstance (especially heinous, atrocious or cruel), three statutory mitigating circumstances (extreme mental or emotional disturbance, impaired capacity and age), and the nonstatutory open-ended mitigator. (R404-5) By a vote of 7-5, the jury recommended a sentence of death. (R414, 516)

Defense counsel filed a motion to question jurors which

the court heard on February 9, 1988. (R517-8, 426-39) The basis for the motion was inadvertent mention by defense witness Dr. Merin before the jury that Nibert had been on death row. (R517, 428) Appellant wanted to question the jurors to see if this information had played a material role in their deliberations. (R517, 426-8) The court denied the motion to question jurors. (R437-8)

A sentencing hearing was held February 10, 1988. (R443-63) After hearing arguments by counsel (R443-59), the sentencing judge found one aggravating circumstance (especially heinous, atrocious or cruel) was proved by the evidence. (R460-1) The court rejected the statutory mitigating circumstances claimed by Appellant but found "an abusive, deprived, and an unfortunate childhood" as a non-statutory mitigating factor. (R461-2) Giving "great weight to the jury recommendation", the judge imposed a sentence of death. (R462) Written findings in conformity with the oral pronouncement were prepared. (R534-6, see Appendix)

Nibert filed his notice of appeal on February 24, 1988. (R537) The Public Defender of the Tenth Judicial Circuit was designated as appellate counsel. Pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i), Billy Ray Nibert now appeals his sentence of death to this Court.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A. STATE EVIDENCE

On November 16, 1984, Eugene Snavely, the victim of the homicide, lived in a house across the street from his brother in Tampa. (R191) The brother, James Snavely, testified that Eugene was often intoxicated and depended upon collecting aluminum cans and odd jobs for money. (R193-4) Around 5:00 p.m. on November 16, 1984, the witness saw a man carrying something, possibly a six-pack, approach his brother who was sitting on the back step of his house. (R194-5, 200) The two talked for a while and then went into Eugene's house. (R195-6)

Three-quarters of an hour later, James Snavely heard a banging on his back door. (R197) He opened it to find his brother covered with blood and holding a knife in his hand. (R196-7) The victim said that he had been stabbed with this knife. (R197)

Tampa police detective Dan Grossi investigated the homicide. (R203) He went to the victim's residence and observed blood all over the kitchen area. (R203-4) He found six empty tall beer cans which still had condensation on the outside, indicating that they had been freshly emptied. (R206-7)

Hillsborough County associate medical examiner, Dr. Lee Miller, testified that he performed an autopsy on Eugene Snavely. (R211) He found seventeen stab wounds. (R211) Three of these wounds were serious enough to be lethal. (R214) None of them,

however, struck a vital structure which would have caused rapid death. (R215) Some of the wounds were defensive type wounds on the victim's right hand. (R216) The victim had 52 mg percent alcohol in his blood; this is about half of the level necessary for a presumption of driving while intoxicated. (R217)

State witness Jack Andruskiewiecz lived in the Peter Pan Motel located about 1 1/2 miles from the homicide scene. (R205, 236) On the evening of the homicide, Nibert came to his motel room, "soaked" in blood. (R239) Andruskiewiecz let Appellant clean up in his bathroom. (R240) Andruskiewiecz said that Nibert was "white," hyperventilating, had "dry heaves" and was "freaked out." (R246-7) Nibert lay on the floor of the witness's motel room, gasping for breath for a long time. (R246-7)

Later that evening, Nibert told Andruskiewiecz that he had been in a fight in a bar. (R239) Then he said it was a street fight. (R239) While the two were watching the 11:00 news, a picture of the victim's house was telecast (R240-1), Andruskiewiecz recognized the house as belonging to the victim who he called the "old man." (R241) Nibert then admitted that he had done the stabbing. (R241) According to Andruskiewiecz, Nibert also said that he had made the victim get down on his knees before stabbing him. (R242) However, Andruskiewiecz also admitted that he never told this detail to the police, the state attorney's office or defense counsel; he just "didn't remember it until the day of the trial." (R255-6)

Over defense objection, Andruskiewiecz was permitted to testify that two days earlier he had encountered Nibert on the street. (R242-3) As they were talking, the victim came riding by them on his bicycle. (R243-4) Nibert pointed at Snavely and said that he was going to rob him. (R243-4)

#### **B.** DEFENSE EVIDENCE

In mitigation, Appellant called the father and son who had employed him in their commercial refrigeration business (R256-63), his two sisters (R264-79), his wife (R279-84) and a psychologist. (R284-333)

His former employers, Paul Hawks Sr. and Paul Hawks Jr., testified that Nibert worked for them off and on for about two years. (R257, 262) He was a trustworthy employee. (R258, 263) They fired Nibert several times because he would drink heavily on the weekends and not show up for work on Monday. (R258, 262) However, they always hired him back because he was a good worker and never had a problem on the job. (R258-9, 263)

Linda Nibert, Appellant's wife, testified that they were married in 1977 but separated in February, 1980. (R281) Appellant had an alcohol problem which destroyed the marriage. (R281-3) He would "go on binges where you wouldn't see him for days, or he would come home real late at night and just pass out on the floor.'' (R281) When Appellant was drinking, he had an angry personality and would do things that he couldn't remember. (R282) On the other hand, "when he is sober he is the nicest person that could ever be." (R283-4)

Nibert's sisters, Patricia Price and Karen Chattin testified concerning their upbringing in West Virginia. The family was raised by an alcoholic mother and a succession of seven step-fathers. (R265-6, 273) Starting when Billy was eleven or twelve, his mother forced him to drink alcoholic beverages with her. (R268-9, 272)

There were several times when the mother would bring men home from bars and have sex with them in front of the children. (R267, 273) The mother asked Billy to steal money from the men's wallets or other items, but he refused. (R266, 276) She became angry and beat him with a belt or a switch. (R266, 276) The mother beat both sisters and Billy nearly every day. (R265-7, 272-3, 275)

Both sisters testified that in later life they had required psychiatric treatment because of problems that were rooted in their childhood experiences. (R268, 274-5) Billy ran away from home several times: he eventually left home for good when he was eighteen. (R277, 279)

Dr. Sidney Merin, a clinical psychologist and neuropsychologist, testified that he administered a battery of psychological tests to Nibert before his original trial on March 19, 1985. (R290-4) On October 30, 1987, Dr. Merin retested Nibert using most of the same tests. (R294-5) Dr. Merin noted a substantial across-the-board improvement in Nibert's performance on these tests. (R296-304) He attributed this improvement in part to the adverse effects which being an alcoholic would have

on the brain functions at the first testing. (R297-8) Merin concluded that "the brain is drying out and rehabilitating itself to some extent." (R318)

When Dr. Merin questioned him about events on the day of the homicide, Nibert told him that on that morning, he sold his blood to a blood bank and immediately spent the money on whiskey. (R310) He drank some more at a tavern in the afternoon before going to the victim's house, where both men drank beer. (R310) Regarding the testimony of Andruskiewiecz about Nibert's behavior after the homicide, Dr. Merin said that vomiting or "dry heaves" would not be uncommon when a person was in an intense state of distress and had drunk alcohol. (R311-2) Dr. Merin gave his opinion that Nibert was aware of what he had done and was overcome by revulsion. (R311-2)

The psychologist noted that both Nibert's mother and father were alcoholics. (R306) He said that Nibert was not merely disadvantaged during childhood; he was severely abused both mentally and physically. (R314) Drinking as a way of life was encouraged from the time he was twelve. (R315)

Dr. Merin gave his opinion that when Nibert committed the homicide, he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (R319-20) Although Nibert could appreciate the criminality of his conduct, his capacity to control his behavior was substantially impaired. (R320-1) Dr. Merin said that Nibert was remorseful about the homicide. (R317) He also testified that Nibert had good potential for

rehabilitation and observed that a totally structured environment like prison was often helpful in rehabilitation. (R317-8) Nibert's improvement on the psychological tests showed that some positive changes had already occurred. (R317-8)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On remand from this Court for resentencing, the State relied upon the same evidence of one aggravating circumstance. Appellant, however, produced more witnesses and evidence in mitigation during this proceeding than in the original. The sentencing judge also found a mitigating circumstance. Comparison between the record in this resentencing and other decisions where this Court has reduced a death sentence to life imprisonment shows that Nibert's sentence of death is disproportionate.

Nibert, a white defendant, objected to the prosecutor's excusal of black prospective jurors. Because the trial judge did not have the benefit of this Court's decisions amplifying <u>State</u> <u>v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), she termed the objection "ridiculous.'' The judge should have required the prosecutor to give reasons for his excusal of a black prospective juror who had not been asked any questions during voir dire.

A prospective juror was excused for cause based upon his views concerning the death penalty. The court found that the prospective juror was excludable because he had engaged in political activity opposing capital punishment. Review of the prospective juror's statements shows that he was willing to consider death as a possible penalty and would follow the law.

Although there was no evidence to indicate that Nibert robbed the victim during the course of this homicide, the

prosecutor was allowed to introduce speculation that this was Nibert's motive for the stabbing. The trial judge erroneously ruled that such speculation was relevant to the extremely heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance.

In her weighing of the aggravating factor against the mitigating evidence, the court erred by arbitrarily rejecting extensive and unrebutted evidence of alcohol abuse as a mitigating factor. Also, the court gave "great weight" to the bare majority (7-5) jury recommendation of death in deciding to impose the death penalty. These errors in the sentencing process violate the constitutional requirement of reliability in capital sentencing.

In a pretrial motion, Appellant contended that a sentence of death would be unconstitutional for this homicide because killings committed with a knife are relatively common and there is nothing about this homicide which sets it apart from the vast majority of knife slayings where a sentence of death is not imposed. He appeals the trial court's denial of this motion and compares the facts of this homicide with aspects of other decisions by this Court.

This Court has recognized that the constitutionality of the section 921.141(5)(h) aggravating circumstance ("especially heinous, atrocious or cruel") depends upon a consistent limiting construction given to it by this Court. However, in the process of making the statute more definite, this Court has overstepped the bounds of judicial restraint and exercised legislative power

in violation of the Florida Constitution.

The trial court erred by denying a defense requested special jury instruction which would have informed the jury of one aspect of this Court's limitation on the section 921.141(5)(h) aggravating factor. Because the jury received no guidance, the resulting death recommendation is constitutionally unsound.

#### ARGUMENT

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

A SENTENCE OF DEATH IS DISPROPORTIONATE WHEN COMPARED TO OTHER CAPITAL CASES WHERE THIS COURT HAS REDUCED THE PENALTY TO LIFE IMPRISONMENT.

The appropriate departure point is the statement of this Court in the opinion remanding this case for resentencing:

We are left with one valid aggravating circumstance (HAC) and no mitigating circumstances. Although death may be the proper sentence in this situation, it is not necessarily so. (Citations omitted).

<u>Nibert</u>, 508 So.2d at 5.

In the new penalty proceeding, the State's evidence was essentially unchanged from that of the prior proceeding. On the other hand, there was substantially more evidence produced in In the original penalty trial, some evidence about mitigation. Nibert's drinking problem and his good work performance when not drinking was presented to the judge and jury. 508 So.2d at 2. In the proceeding at bar, for the first time, evidence of Nibert's upbringing and the abuse he suffered as a child was presented through his sisters Patricia Price and Karen Chattin who did not testify at the original trial. (R449) Dr. Merin was also a new witness. The present proceeding was the first which documented Nibert's improvement on psychological tests, indicating some rehabilitation while in prison with potential for (R317 - 8)more.

Unlike the original sentencing judge who found nothing in mitigation, the sentencing judge here found Nibert's "abusive, deprived and unfortunate childhood" as a non-statutory mitigating factor. (R462) The difference between the original sentencing proceeding and the one at bar is significant enough to require that the sentence of death be vacated as disproportionate. Cf., <u>Proffitt v. State</u>, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987).

This Court has recognized the vulnerability of a death sentence which rests on a single aggravating circumstance. In <u>Sonuer v. State</u>, 544 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1989), the court wrote:

We have in the past affirmed death sentences that were supported by only one aggravating factor, (citation omitted)<sup>1</sup>, but those cases involved either nothing or very little in mitigation. 544 So.2d at 1011.

This standard was amplified in <u>Smallev v. State</u>, 546 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1989) where the single aggravating factor found was (as at bar) heinous, atrocious or cruel. Despite a 10-2 jury vote recommending death for Smalley, this Court held that there was enough mitigating evidence to reverse the sentence on proportionality grounds. The <u>Smallev</u> court looked at "the entire picture of mitigation and aggravation" in concluding that death was unwarranted. 546 So.2d at 723.

It is noteworthy that the case cited for this proposition is <u>LeDuc v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1978). <u>LeDuc</u> involved the brutal rape and murder of a nine-year-old child. Although the judge in <u>LeDuc</u> considered only heinousness as an aggravator, it appears evident that the sexual battery would support a second aggravating circumstance.

In the case at bar, there are substantial mitigating aspects. Indeed, the mitigating evidence is practically identical to that relied upon by this Court in <u>Holsworth v.</u> <u>State</u>, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988) in reducing the defendant's sentence to life imprisonment. Holsworth presented evidence of drug and alcohol abuse which the trial court rejected. At bar, the sentencing judge also rejected the unrebutted evidence of Nibert's history of alcohol abuse and claim of intoxication at the time of the homicide. (R535, see Appendix) Nonetheless, it is evident that Nibert's alcoholic lifestyle caused the breakup of his marriage (R281-3), caused him to be fired by employers who called him a trustworthy and good employee (R258, 262-3), and resulted in his being homeless at the time of the offense.<sup>2</sup>

Other parallels between the mitigating vidence found substantial in <u>Holsworth</u> and the case at bar include the abused childhoods of both Holsworth and Nibert. Both defendants also presented favorable evidence from employers and positive character traits suggesting rehabilitative potential within the prison system.

While the evidence in mitigation is comparable between <u>Holsworth</u> and the case at bar, the aggravating circumstances are not. Holsworth attacked two women with a knife during an early morning burglary of their mobile home, killing one and inflicting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although most of the evidence concerning Nibert's homelessness appears only in the prior record (<u>Nibert v. State</u>, Case No. 67,072), witness Jack Andruskiewiecz mentioned that Nibert was living "on somebody's porch or garage." (R237)

multiple wounds on the other. He had been convicted of a previous attack on another woman in the same trailer park where he also unlawfully entered the victim's mobile home in the early morning hours. By contrast, Nibert has never been previously convicted for a violent felony. Moreover, the circumstances at bar suggest that the stabbing resulted from a sudden quarrel between two winos who were drinking together. (R206-7)

Another decision for comparison is <u>Hansbrouah v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Hansbrouah</u>, the employee of an insurance agency was stabbed over thirty times in the course of a robbery-murder. This Court found that two aggravating factors<sup>3</sup> were valid. However, testimony concerning drug abuse, a difficult childhood and mental/emotional problems was sufficient mitigation to make life imprisonment a reasonable sentence for Hansbrough. The case at bar is less aggravated and more mitigated.

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