#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



BILLY RAY NIBERT,

FEB 1 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Deputy Clerk .

Appellant,

CASE NO. 71,980

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney Gener
Florida Bar No. 327832
1313 Tampa Street, Suite
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOP Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 327832 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804

/aoh

#

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

<sup>&</sup>quot;. • We previously held in <u>Lara v. State</u>, 464 So.2d 1173, 1178-79 (Fla. 19851, quoting <u>Herring v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1049, 1055-56 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 989, 105 S.Ct. 396, 83 L.Ed.2d 330 (1984), that:

It would make a mockery of the jury selection process to . . allow persons with fixed opinions to sit on juries. To permit a person to sit as a juror after he has honestly advised the court that he does not believe he can set aside his opinion is unfair to the other jurors who are willing to maintain open minds and make their decision based solely upon the testimony, the evidence, and the law presented to them.

527 So.2d at 180.

As evidenced by the foregoing arguments and authorities, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excusing Juror #14, Mr. Weatherford, for cause.

#### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE THAT NIBERT TARGETED THE VICTIM TWO DAYS PRIOR TO THE MURDER.

Two days before the murder, Nibert said he knew where he could get his hands on some money, and Nibert pointed out the victim and identified the "old man" as his target. (R. 243-244). Thus, Nibert's presence at the victim's home was no mere coincidence and, contrary to the Defendant's claim, the testimony introduced by the State was not based on mere speculation; it was direct evidence derived from a threat by the defendant targeting this man as his victim.

Review of evidentiary rulings is pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard, Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310, 315 (Fla.), cert. denied, \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 108 S.Ct. 39, 98 L.Ed.2d 170 (1987) [Penalty phase]. Trial courts enjoy wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence, and, in the absence of an abuse of discretion, a ruling regarding admissibility will not be disturbed. Section 90.402, Florida Statutes (1987) authorizes the admission of all relevant evidence. In the instant case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing witness Andruskiewiez to repeat Nibert's threat identifying the victim as his target two days before the victim's murder. The defendant's own statement of criminal intent was relevant to support the application of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor, it was necessary to expose the jury to the complete circumstances surrounding offense, and it specifically negated

Nibert's claim that the statutory mitigating circumstances of impaired capacity [\$921.141(6)(f)] and emotional or mental disturbance [\$921.141(6)(b)] and non-statutory mitigating circumstances warranted leniency. Nibert's statements evidenced not only the planning of a serious crime, but the premeditated design to confront this vulnerable victim.

As long ago recognized in Snyder v. Massachussetts, 291 U.S. 97, 78 L.Ed. 674, 54 S.Ct. 330, (1934) justice, though due to the accused, is due to the accuser also. 291 U.S. 122-124. The kind evidence which is considered relevant for purposes of of imposition of a death sentence is evidence which is relevant to defendant's character, background and record or circumstances of the offense. Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 112, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1982); Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 973, 988, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978) (plurality opinion); Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 303-304, 96 S.Ct. 2978, 49 L.Ed.2d 944 (1976) (plurality opinion); Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 189, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976) ("justice generally requires . . . that there be taken into account the circumstances of the offense together with the character and propensities of the offender." Internal quotation citations omitted). It is the kind of evidence which "has some bearing on the defendant's 'personal responsibility and moral guilt.'" Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (19870 quoting Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 801, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982).

As this Court agreed in Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360, 366 (Fla. 1986), facts presented during the penalty phase cannot be antiseptically packaged when presented to the jury. In the instant case, as in Muehleman v. State, 503 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1987) the evidence was properly admitted to expose the jury to a more complete picture of those aspects of the defendant's history which had been put in issue. In Muehleman, this Court found no abuse of discretion in admitting testimony concerning other crimes by the defendant in rebuttal to the defendant's expert testimony, presented in mitigation, that the defendant lacked the substantial capacity to plan in advance and execute crimes. 503 So.2d at **316.** See also, Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla. **1986).** [The trial court had discretion to allow the resentencer to hear or see probative evidence, including the testimony regarding the murder and photograph of the victim, in order that the jury could render an appropriate advisory sentence]; Johnson v. State, 465 So.2d 499 (Fla.), certiorari denied, 106 S.Ct. 186, 474 U.S. 865, 88 L.Ed.2d 155 (1985) [Fact that defendant gave several inconsistent statements to enforcement authorities before trial did not preclude use of other evidence those and statements of aggravating as circumstances in sentencing phase.] Walton v. State, 547 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1989) [Once a defendant claims reliance on mitigating circumstance of no significant history of prior criminal activity, the State could properly rebut this claim with direct evidence of criminal activity, even though convictions were not obtained.] Since Lockett and its progeny require that the

circumstances surrounding the offense and character of the defendant be considered as relevant factors to be considered prior to the imposition of sentence, there is not rational basis for excluding this aspect of Nibert's criminal scheme.

## ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN WEIGHING THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE AND IN CONSIDERING THE JURY'S DEATH RECOMMENDATION.

It is up to the trial court to decide if any particular mitigating circumstance has been established and the weight to be given it. Hudson, supra; Toole v. State, 474 So.2d 731 (Fla. 1985); Daugherty v. State, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1982). Sub judice, the record shows that the trial court carefully considered and detailed her basis for rejecting the defendant's claimed mitigating factors. Thus, Nibert's self-serving claim that the trial judge arbitrarily rejected his mitigating evidence is totally untenable.

The fact that Nibert's wife has no plans to divorce this convicted murderer relates to her character, not Nibert's. Furthermore, the defense evidence of prior alcohol abuse does not entitle Nibert to mitigation of his sentence. Nibert targeted the vulnerable "old man" as his victim ahead of time, Nibert was invited into the victim's home; he confronted the victim when no one else was around; Nibert readily manufactured a story to explain the extensive blood stains; Nibert evidenced no signs of intoxication on the date of the murder; and Nibert specifically recalled the particular details of the murder, including forcing the "old man' to kneel and stabbing him repeatedly. Thus, the defendant's claim of alcohol abuse was properly rejected as a mitigating factor. See e.g., Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 1986) [Defendant claimed impairment by drugs and alcohol mitigating factor properly rejected where the defendant recounted

specific details of murder contradicting notion that he did not know what he was doing.] Koon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1987) [Claim of diminished mental capacity due to intoxication properly rejected where there was testimony that even though Koon was high, he was not drunk at the time of the victim's murder.}. So long as the trial court considers all of the evidence, the trial judge's determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion. Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179, 183 (Fla. 1989).

Lastly, the defendant's reliance on Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1985) is misplaced. In Ross, the was evidence that the defendant had been drinking when he attacked the victim and the killing was the result of an angry domestic dispute. Here, the unsuspecting victim was lured into his own house where he was brutally attacked.

The law is clear that the sentencing judge must consider in mitigation any aspect of defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense that the defendant offers as a basis for life sentence. Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 102 S.Ct. 869, 71 L.Ed.2d 1 (1981). A trial judge is not obligated to find mitigating circumstnaces, Suarez v. State, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985); but in this case, the trial court did conclude that a mitigating factor existed, Nibert's abusive, deprived and unfortunate childhood. Cf. Lara v. State, 464 So, 2d 1173 (Fla. 1985) [The defendant's acts in committing the murder were not significantly influenced by his childhood justify its experience so as to use as а mitigating

circumstance.] The fact that the judge did not find that the defendant's sporadic employment record was sufficient to substantiate a finding of mitigation does not indicate that she gave the evidence no weight at all. The law only requires that the defendant be permitted to present evidence in mitigation, and requires the sentencer to consider it. Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S.Ct. 2954, 57 L.Ed.2d 973 (1978). It is within the trial court's discretion to determine the weight to be given such evidence.

The defendant recognizes that the jury's recommendation of death is entitled to great weight, Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 at 846 (Fla. 1988). However, he invites this Court to regard a seven to five death recommendation as equivalent to a life recommendation. Acceptance of this proposal would lead the next appellant with an eight to four death recommendation also to request Tedder v. State, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975) consideration and eventually those with unanimous death recommendations also would rely on Tedder. The Court should decline the Alice-in-Wonderland appeal of appellant's argument and not extend Tedder to any further extension than it presently occupies.

#### ISSUE VI

THE MURDER WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL AND THE DEATH PENALTY WAS PROPERLY IMPOSED IN THIS CASE.

In Nibert's original appeal, this Court approved the finding that this murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

Nibert v. State, 508 So.2d 1 at 4 (Fla. 1987). On resentencing, the Trial Court stated the following reasons for finding this aggravating factor:

### STATUTORY AGGRAVATING IRCUMSTANCES [F.S. 921.141(5)]

1. The murder of the victim Eugene Howard Snavely especially was heinous, atrocious and cruel. The evidence was that the victim was stabbed seventeen (17) times, eight (8) of those stab wounds were to the victim's upper back, four (4) of the stab wounds to the victim's hand and characterized as defensive wounds indicating the victim was attempting to ward off the defendant during the attack. On witness testified that the Defendant, Billy Ray Nibert, said he had made the victim, Eugene Howard Snavely, get down on his knees during the stabbing. medical testimony was that stab wounds are extremely painful and that the victim could remained conscious throughout stabbing. In fact, the victim left his house and ran across the street to his brother's house after suffering the seventeen (17) stab wounds and while severely bleeding.

A photograph of the victim's kitchen admitted in the Sentencing Trial showed large amounts of blood on the floor and cabinets, demonstrating the brutality of the murder.

The evidence clearly indicated that Eugene Howard Snavely's death was brutal, not instantaneous, and unnecessarily tortuous thus setting it apart from other first degree murders and making it <u>especially</u> heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

(R.534-535).

The defendant claims that the trial court erred in imposing the death penalty because the homicide at bar was "typical of most knife murders". The Defendant's cavalier treatment of the brutal slaughter of the victim does not camouflage the evidence in this case and Nibert errs in his reliance on Teffeteller v. State, 439 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1983), and Demps v. State, 395 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1981). In Teffeteller, this Court found that the criminal act that ultimately caused the victim's death was a single shot from a shotgun. The relatively impersonal act of firing a single shot from a shotgun at some distance from the victim, despite the fact that it inflicted a painful and slow killing wound, is easily distinguishable from a frenzied knife attack at close range where multiple deep wounds were inflicted.

In <u>Demps</u>, the victim was a fellow inmate. He was found bleeding from multiple stab wounds and died after some period of survival. However, this Court's rejection of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor was summary. . . "[w]e do not believe this murder to have been so 'conscienceless or pitiless' and thus set 'apart from the norm of capital felonies' as to render it 'especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." '395 So.2d at 506 (footnotes and citations deleted). This constitutes the entire discussion in <u>Demps</u> of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel factor.

This Court apparently has receded from <u>Demps</u>, as at least two subsequent prison stabbing deaths were held to be heinous, atrocious, or cruel. <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1984) (victim stabbed in back three times in prison lunchroom); <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 6, 12 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 459 U.S. 1055, 103 S.Ct. 473, 74 L.Ed.2d 621 (1982):

Under established precedent interpreting the capital felony sentencing law, the third aggravating circumstance [heinous, atrocious, and cruel] is also supported. The evidence showed that death was caused by one or more of ten stab wounds inflicted upon the victim by appellant [in the victim's cell during sleeping hours]. See Rutledge v. State, 374 So.2d 975 (Fla. 1979), Cert. denied, 446 U.S. 913, 100 S.Ct. 1844, 64 L.Ed.2d 267 (1980); Foster v. State, 369 So.2d 928 (Fla.), Cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885, 100 S.Ct. 178, 62 L.Ed.2d 116 (1979); Washington v. State, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978), Cert. denied, 441 U.S. 937, 99 S.Ct. 2063, 60 L.Ed.2d 666 (1979).

Recent cases suggest that multiple stabbing of a conscious, resisting, victim who survives the attack at least long enough to see it to its conclusion, is sufficient to support heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Turner v. State, 530 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, \_\_\_\_ U.S. , 109 S.Ct. 1175, 103 L.Ed.2d 237 (1989) (killer pursued and cornered his victim, then stabbed and cut her to death despite her pleas); Perry v. State, 522 So.2d (Fla. 1988) (victim beaten and stabbed repeatedly in her 817 home); Hansbrough v. State, 509 So.2d 1081 (Fla. 1987) (thirty stab wounds, some defensive, showing victim survived to suffer the effects of the repeated goring); Floyd v. State, 497 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1986) (twelve wounds to the torso and one defensive wound to the hand, indicating victim was conscious during the stabbing, although she died with minutes thereafter); Johnston v. State, 497 So.2d 863, 871 (Fla. 1986) (citations deleted):

The medical examiner testified that the victim, an 84-year-old woman who had retired to bed for the evening, was strangled and stabbed three times completely through the neck and twice in the upper chest. The medical examiner's testimony also revealed that it took the helpless victim three to

five minutes to die after the knife wound severed the jugular vein. The court also mentioned, correctly, that the victim was in terror and experienced considerable pain during the murderous attack. The heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstances was properly applied in this circumstance. Wright v. State, 473 So.2d (35) (multiple stab wounds So.2d 1277 (Fla.  $198\overline{5}$ ) of a 75-year-old woman), the body U.S. \_\_\_\_, 106 S.Ct. 870, cert. denied, 88 L.Ed.2d 909 (1986). . .

This court previously approved the finding of the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor to the facts of this case, Nibert v. State, 508 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1987); the defendant has not demonstrated any basis for setting aside the Trial Court's independent finding of this factor on resentencing. Nibert ruthlessly butchered the elderly victim and, accordingly, the death penalty was properly imposed in this case.

A resentencing proceeding is an entirely new proceeding and neither the doctrine of collateral estoppel nor law of the case apply to compel the resentencer to find the same mitigating factors as those found in the original sentencing hearing. King v. State, 15 F.L.W. 511 (Fla. Case #73,360, Opinion filed January 4, 1990).

# ISSUE VII

THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OF HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

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